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Jehovah’s Witnesses are recoghized as a religious organi-
zation throughout the countries of the European Union.
In the case of Jehovah’s Witnesses of Moscow V. Russia,
the European Court of Human Rights referred to Jehovah’s
Witnesses as “a known Christian denomination” and ob-
served that since the late 19th century, the Witness-
es “have established an active presence in many coun-
tries world-wide, including all European States which
are currently members of the Council of Europe.” (Jeho-
vah’s Witnesses of Moscow v. Russia, no. 302/02, § 155,
10 June 2010) This reiterates findings of the Court in a
number of previous cases.

The following overview shows the history of Jehovah’s Wit-
nesses’ legal status in various European Union countries.

Austria

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Austria in the
early 1920’s, opening their office in Vienna in 1923. In
May 1930 a local association was registered. In 1933
the local association Wachtturm-Gesellschaft was reg-
istered but was dissolved in 1935. In 1947, Wachtturm-
Gesellschaft was revived. In 1998, Jehovah’s Witnesses
became a state-registered religious confessional commu-
nity. And on 7 May 2009, Jehovah’s Witnesses in Austria
were recognized as a religious society with the same legal
status as the Catholic Church and the Protestant churches.

Belgium

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Belgium
in 1901. A legal association was incorporated on
15 April 1932. In 1990 the Witnesses adopted the name
Christian Congregation of Jehovah’'s Witnesses. Except
during the Nazi occupation from 1940 to 1944, the Wit-
nesses have enjoyed peaceful relations with the govern-
ment and with their neighbors.

Britain (United Kingdom)

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Britain in 1881.
On 14 June 1914, the International Bible Students Asso-
ciation (as Jehovah's Witnesses were then known) was reg-
istered as a charitable company for the advancement of
religion. On 28 July 1939, the Kingdom Hall Trust was reg-
istered as a charitable company for the advancement of re-
ligion in the name of the London Company of Kingdom
Witnesses (name changed in June 1994) and in 1994 re-
ceived the Lord Chancellor’s certificate as a trust corpo-
ration. On 8 October 1999, the Watch Tower Bible and
Tract Society of Britain was registered as a charitable com-
pany for the advancement of religion as a successor to
the Watch Tower Bible and Tract Society of Pennsylvania,
which is based in the United States.

Bulgaria

Jehovah's Witnesses first became active in Bulgaria in the
1920’s. On 6 May 1938, the Association of Jehovah's
Witnesses in the Kingdom of Bulgaria was legally regis-
tered. This registration was revoked by the Communist gov-
ernment less than a decade later. On 17 July 1991, two
years after the fall of the Communist regime, Jehovah’'s
Witnesses were legally recognized in Bulgaria. However, in
1994 the Witnesses, along with numerous other religious
groups, lost their legal status after the passage of a restric-
tive law on religion. Finally, on 7 October 1998, the Di-
rectorate of Religious Denominations under the Council
of Ministers issued a document again legally recognizing
Jehovah’s Witnesses in Bulgaria.

Cyprus

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Cyprus in
the 1920’s. They established an office in 1948. In

March 1960, Jehovah's Witnesses Congregation (Cyprus)
LTD was formed as a nonprofit religious corporation.

Czech Republic

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in the territory of
the Czech Republic in the early 1900’s. In 1928 the In-
ternational Corporation of Bible Students, Czechoslovakia
branch, was established in the city of Brno. In 1931 the
International Association of Bible Students, Czechoslo-
vakia branch, was established in Prague. And in 1933,
the Watch Tower Bible and Tract Society, Czechoslovakia
branch, was also established in Prague. The activities of
these associations were canceled after the Nazis invaded
the country. In 1945 the activities of both associations
were restored in Prague, but they were banned again in
1949 after the Communists came to power. Finally, on
1 September 1993, the Religious Association of Jehovah’s
Witnesses was registered.

Denmark

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Denmark in
1894. In April 1932 the association Vagttarnets Bibel- og
Traktatselskab (CVR 16792810) was legally established.
And since 11 April 1970 (Journal nr. 1—Kt 662), Jehovah’s
Witnesses have been recognized as a religious denomina-
tion by the Ministry of Ecclesiastical Affairs (now under the
Ministry of Justice).

Estonia

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Estonia in the
1920’s. On 21 June 1933, Vahi-Torni Piibli ja Traktaa-
tide selts (Watch Tower Bible and Tract Society) was reg-
istered but was dissolved soon thereafter by the Soviet
regime. After the collapse of the Soviet Union, Eesti Je-
hoova Tunnistajate Koguduste Liit (Association of Congre-
gations of Jehovah’'s Witnesses in Estonia) was registered
on 15 June 1994. This association was reregistered on
11 May 2004.

Finland

Jehovah's Witnesses first became active in Finland in
1906. On 11 March 1933, Vartiotornin Raamattu- ja Trak-
taattiseura r.y. was registered. On 30 April 1940, this asso-
ciation was dissolved for the duration of World War II. On
31 May 1945, Jehovan todistajat (Jehovah’'s Witnesses)
was registered as a religious association under the Act on
Freedom of Religion. On 9 February 1949, the Watch Tow-
er Society was registered again, the official name being
Vartiotornin Raamattu- ja Traktaattiseura r.y.—Watchtower
Bible and Tract Society. Finally, on 5 November 2007, an
updated charter of Jehovan todistajat was registered un-
der the new Act on Freedom of Religion.

France

Jehovah’s Witnesses became active in France in the early
1900’s. The first local association of Jehovah’s Witnesses
was registered in the Official Journal of the French Re-
public in November 1906. On 16 September 1947, after
a period of severe wartime repression, Les Témoins de
Jéhovah, a national association, was registered and set
up its offices, commonly known as Bethel, first in Paris
and later in Louviers. On 13 January 1993, and again on
23 June 2000, the Conseil d’'Etat deemed local asso-
ciations belonging to Jehovah’s Witnesses to have the reli-
gious status set out in the 9 December 1905 law on the
separation of Church and State because they respect pub-
lic order. Moreover, on 9 July 2002 and on 5 June 2003,
the other national associations of Jehovah’'s Witnesses
in France were granted recognition by the Prefect of the



Hauts-de-Seine region because of the Withesses'’ religious
nature and respect for public order.

Germany

Jehovah’s Witnesses—initially under the name Bibel-
forscher—first became active in Germany in 1897. The
association was registered in the Association Register of
the Local Court in Magdeburg in 1927 as Internationale
Bibelforscher-Vereinigung, Deutscher Zweig (Interna-
tional Bible Students Association, Germany branch). Un-
der National Socialism, Jehovah’s Witnesses were perse-
cuted and banned, and their registration was deleted. In
1945 the Witnesses were again registered by the local
court in Magdeburg. In 1950 this association was again
banned, this time by the Ministry of the Interior of the
German Democratic Republic (GDR). Thereafter, the as-
sociation was organized for the area of the Federal Re-
public of Germany under the name Wachtturm Bibel- und
Traktat-Gesellschaft, Deutscher Zweig e. V. and was based
in Wiesbaden (since 1984 in Selters/Taunus). Jehovah's
Witnesses in the GDR were granted legal recognition on
14 March 1990, by the Council of Ministers of the GDR,
Office for Church Affairs. Jehovah’s Witnesses in Germany
developed from the Religious Association of Jehovah’s Wit-
nesses in the GDR. The area of activity has been extend-
ed to all of Germany. On 13 June 2006, Jehovah’s Wit-
nesses in Germany were granted the rights of a public law
corporation with the bestowal of the deed of recognition
from the State of Berlin. Since then, the rights of a public
law corporation have been acknowledged in most (10 in
August 2009) of the other 15 states of Germany.

Greece

Jehovah’s Witnesses have been active in Greece since
1905. In 1922 a branch of the Watch Tower Bible and
Tract Society was founded in Athens. In 1927, by means
of consultatory response (July) of the Public Prosecutor’s
Office of the Supreme Court (Areopagus), the Witnesses’
right to perform marriages was recoghized, and they were
recognized as a “known religion.” In 1947 the same status
was confirmed by means of a new consultatory response
(January) of the Public Prosecutor’s Office of the Supreme
Court. In 1975 the Supreme Administrative Court (Council
of State) ruled that Jehovah’s Witnesses met the constitu-
tional requirements of a “known religion” and thus con-
stituted a “recognized” denomination. (Decisions 2105,
2106) In 1989 the nonprofit corporation Christian Jeho-
vah’'s Witnesses of Greece was founded. (Athens First In-
stance Court Decision 520) And in 2001 the Ministry of Ed-
ucation and Religions recognized the Witnesses’ branch
office as “a sacred and consecrated place, dedicated to
the worship of God.”—Document A3/102/13.6.2001.

Hungary

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Hungary in
the early 1900’s. An office of the Watch Tower Soci-
ety was established in the 1920’s but was closed by
the Fascist government on 2 December 1939. On 7 Febru-
ary 1947, a branch office of the Watch Tower Society was
reestablished in Budapest. However, in 1950 the office
was closed, and the Witnesses were banned by the Com-
munist government. On 27 June 1989, the ban on Jeho-
vah’s Witnesses was lifted, and the State Office for Church
Affairs officially recognized Jehovah’s Witnesses. On
3 July 1990, Magyarorszagi Jehova Tanui Egyhaz (Church
of Jehovah'’s Witnesses in Hungary) was registered.

Ireland

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Ireland in the
1890’s. Their work in Ireland was administered by the Brit-

ain branch of Jehovah’s Witnesses for some 40 years. In
1957 a branch office of Jehovah’'s Witnesses was estab-
lished in Dublin for the Republic of Ireland. In 1966 this
branch office started caring for Northern Ireland as well.
On 19 February 1985, the Watch Tower Bible and Tract
Society of Ireland was registered.

Italy

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Italy in 1903. In
1919 a correspondence office of the Watch Tower Society
was opened in Pinerolo, near Turin. Although the Witness-
es were persecuted during the Fascist period, in 1956 the
Constitutional Court granted them greater freedom of wor-
ship under the new constitution. In 1976 the Watch Tower
Bible and Tract Society of Pennsylvania was granted rights
similar to those of national denominational corporations.
On 30 July 1986, the Council of State (High Administrative
Council) recognized the Congregazione Cristiana dei Testi-
moni di Geova, and the President of the Republic officially
decreed the public recognition with the Decree of the Pres-
ident of the Republic of 31 October 1986, n. 783. Finally,
on 20 March 2000 (updated 4 April 2007), in harmony with
Article 8.3 of the Italian Constitution, the Italian govern-
ment signed an agreement with Congregazione Cristiana
dei Testimoni di Geova for which parliamentary approval is
now pending.

Latvia

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Latvia in the
1920’s. An office was established in Riga in 1926. On
14 March 1933, the International Bible Students Associa-
tion (as Jehovah's Witnesses were then known) was official-
ly registered. However, on 30 June 1934, the association
was shut down after the new government established mar-
tial law. After the collapse of the Soviet Union, the first
two congregations were registered in Latvia on 12 October
1998. There are now a total of 14 registered congrega-
tions, and the Sargtorna Biedriba (Watch Tower Society) is
also a legally registered association.

Lithuania

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in 1912 in the
Memel area of what is now Lithuania. On 20 April 1934,
Tarptautiné Biblijos Tyrinétojy Sajunga (The International
Bible Students Association) was registered. This registra-
tion was nullified on 1 January 1938, as persecution of
Jehovah’s Witnesses intensified before World War II. After
the collapse of the Soviet Union, Lietuvos Jehovos liudytojy
religiné bendrija (Religious Society of Jehovah’s Witnesses
in Lithuania) was registered on 21 July 1993, by adminis-
trative order No. 549p. After the law on religious associa-
tions and societies was amended in 1995, the Religious
Society of Jehovah's Witnesses in Lithuania was reregis-
tered on 3 January 1997, and two new religious associa-
tions of Jehovah's Witnesses were registered on 11 Sep-
tember 1997.

Luxembourg

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Luxembourg in
1922. On 6 July 1946, the Watch Tower Bible and Tract So-
ciety, Association sans but lucratif (not-for-profit associa-
tion), was formed, and its registration was officially recog-
nized by the publication of its statutes in the Mémorial
No. 62 of 23 October 1946, and the Mémorial No. 83 of
4 November 1947.

Malta

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Malta in 1936.
Their work in Malta was administered by the Britain
branch of Jehovah’s Witnesses for some 50 years. On



16 April 1997, the International Bible Students Association
Malta was registered.

Netherlands

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in the Nether-
lands in 1908. On 1 September 1922, the Dutch branch of
the Watch Tower Bible and Tract Society of Pennsylvania
was established. On 29 May 1949, Stichting Genootschap
tot Verbreiding van het Evangelie (Foundation for Spread-
ing the Gospel) was established. On 6 February 1980,
Wachttoren-, Bijbel- en Traktaatgenootschap, a religious le-
gal entity, was established. On 22 April 1996, Stichting
Wereldwijde Educatieve Services (Foundation Worldwide
Educational Services) was established. And on 24 Au-
gust 2009, Christelijke gemeente van Jehovah’s Getuigen
(Christian Congregation of Jehovah’s Witnesses) was es-
tablished.

Poland

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Poland in
1895. A branch office of the Watch Tower Society was
opened in Warsaw in 1921. In 1932 the office was moved
to 24 Rzgowska Street, £6dz. On 22 March 1938, the
authorities shut down the Léd? office, but it reopened in
1946. In April 1950 the £6dzZ office was raided by the Com-
munists, and on 2 July 1950, the Office for Religious Af-
fairs announced that it rejected the application for registra-
tion by the Association of Jehovah’s Witnesses in Poland.
On 12 May 1989, Straznica—Towarzystwo Biblijne i Trakta-
towe, Zarejestrowany Zwiazek Wyznania Swiadkow Jehowy
w Polsce (Watch Tower Bible and Tract Society, Registered
Religious Association of Jehovah’'s Witnesses in Poland)
was formed, and on 31 January 1990, this was introduced
into the Registry of churches and other denominations.

Portugal

Jehovah’'s Witnesses first became active in Portugal in
1925, and an office of the Watch Tower Society was
opened in Lisbon that year. However, during the dictator-
ship of Dr. Anténio de Oliveira Salazar, numerous applica-
tions for legal recognition were denied. On 25 April 1974,
that dictatorship was overthrown. Shortly thereafter, on
18 December 1974, the Associacao das Testemunhas de
Jeova (Association of Jehovah’s Witnesses) was legally reg-
istered as a religious, nonprofit association under the gen-
eral civil law. On 24 April 2007, this association, with its
same name and statutes, was reregistered as a religious
corporate body under the new religious freedom law, Law
No. 16 (2001). Finally, on 22 June 2009, under the same
law, the Minister of Justice signed the Certificate granting
the Association of Jehovah’'s Witnesses the statute as a
Long-standing Religious Community, the highest juridical
and religious classification possible.

Romania

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Romania in
1911. In April 1920, a branch office of the Watch Tower
Society was set up in Cluj-Napoca. In 1930 the branch
office was relocated to Bucharest. On 21 April 1937, the
Ministry of Religions forbade the activity of Jehovah’s Wit-
nesses in Romania, and on 2 August 1938, the Bucharest
office was closed. Following World War II, the Associa-
tion of Jehovah’s Witnesses in Romania was registered
on 11 July 1945. After the Communists came to pow-
er, the Justice Ministry closed the Bucharest office on
8 August 1949, and the Witnesses remained under ban
for 40 years. Finally, on 9 April 1990, Organizatia Reli-
gioasa ,Martorii lui lehova” (The Religious Organization of
Jehovah’s Withesses) regained its legal status through civ-
il judgment No. 1166 issued by the Bucharest Court of

First Instance, Sector No. 1. On 22 May 2003, the Minister
of Culture and Religions issued Order No. 2657 reconfirm-
ing the status of Jehovah’s Witnesses as a religion. On
6 February 2004, the Religious Organization of Jehovah's
Witnesses was included in a list of recognized religions
in Romania. And on 18 June 2008, Government Decision
No. 658 recognized the new statute for the organizing and
functioning of the Religious Organization of Jehovah’s Wit-
nesses.

Slovakia

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in the territory
of Slovakia in 1912. In 1930 two legal corporations
were formed: Biblicka a traktatni spole¢nost Strazni véz,
ceskoslovenska vétev (Watch Tower Bible and Tract So-
ciety, Czechoslovakia branch) and Mezinarodni sdruzeni
badatell Bible, ¢eskoslovenska vétev (International Bible
Students Association, Czechoslovakia branch). But during
World War Il, the work of Jehovah’s Witnesses in Czecho-
slovakia was banned. After the war, the Ministry of Interior
acknowledged the reactivation of both legal corporations
on 13 December 1945. After the Communist Party took
power, the work of Jehovah’s Witnesses in Czechoslovakia
was again banned, on 4 April 1949. Finally, on 24 March
1993, the Ministry of Culture registered Nabozenska spol-
ocnost Jehovovi svedkovia v Slovenskej republike (The Re-
ligious Society of Jehovah’s Witnesses in the Slovak Re-
public).

Slovenia

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in the territory of
Slovenia in the late 1920’s. On 9 September 1930, the for-
mer Kingdom of Yugoslavia legally recognized The Light-
house Society of Bible Students in the Kingdom of Yugosla-
via. On 9 September 1953, the Socialist Federal Republic
of Yugoslavia officially registered the Christian Religious
Community of Jehovah’s Witnesses. In 1976 the official
registration of this community was reconfirmed. After Slo-
venia gained independence in 1991, the Witnesses were
reregistered under the name Jehovah’s Witnesses—Chris-
tian Religious Community, on 12 December 1992. On
27 November 2009, Jehovah’'s Witnesses—Christian Re-
ligious Community was reregistered under the new Reli-
gious Freedom Act (Official Gazette of the RS No. 14/07).

Spain

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Spain in the
early 1920’s. In 1925 a branch office of the Watch Tower
Society was established in Madrid. However, on 2 February
1939, all non-Catholic religions were declared illegal. On
10 July 1970, the Ministry of Justice legally recognized
Jehovah’s Witnesses as an approved religion in Spain.

Sweden

Jehovah’s Witnesses first became active in Sweden in
1899. An office was established in 1901 in Stockholm.
In 1907 the office was moved to Orebro. In Septem-
ber 1926 the office was moved back to Stockholm. On
31 March 1954, the branch office was moved to Jakobs-
berg. In 1952, Bibel- och Traktatsallskapet Vakttornet
(Watch Tower Bible and Tract Society) was legally regis-
tered. On 23 July 1954, Vakttornets forlags- och tryckeri-
aktiebolag (Watchtower Publishing and Printing Corpo-
ration) was legally recognized. On 13 March 2000, the
religious community Jehovas vittnen—Bibelsaliskapet
Vakttornet (Jehovah's Witnesses—Watchtower Bible Soci-
ety) was legally approved. Finally, on 27 February 2009, Je-
hovas vittnen—Bibelsallskapet Vakttornet was registered
under the name Jehovas vittnen (Jehovah's Witnesses).
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